Filed 03-26-2025

Page 1 of 35

FILED 03-26-2025 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT**

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

No. 2022AP2026

KONKANOK RABIEBNA, RICHARD A. FREIHOEFER, DOROTHY M. BORCHARDT, RICHARD HEIDEL and NORMAN C. SANNES,

Plaintiffs-Appellants,

v.

HIGHER EDUCATIONAL AIDS BOARD and TAMMIE DEVOOGHT-BLANEY,

Defendants-Respondents-Petitioners.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

CHARLOTTE GIBSON Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1038845

ANTHONY D. RUSSOMANNO Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1076050

MICHAEL D. MORRIS Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1112934

Case 2022AP002026 Petition for Review Filed 03-26-2025 Page 2 of 35

INTRODUCTION

A model of good government in action, Wis. Stat. § 39.44 offers small, need-based grants to college students from four groups—Black, Native American, Hispanic, and Southeast Asian—who, statistically, experience attrition rates far above their college peers. The program succeeds. Grant recipients have graduation rates of at least twice the rates of those in those targeted groups who do not receive them. The program supplements the financial aid already available to all students and represents less than one-half of one percent of total aid dollars available. While the program dates to the mid-1980s, annual reports evaluate its continued efficacy, and funding relies on the biennial budget process.

The four plaintiffs here, not students themselves and people conceding they'd lack standing to bring their claims in federal court, brought a federal and state equal protection challenge in the Jefferson County Circuit Court, arguing that the statute was unconstitutional. The Higher Educational Aids Board and its Administrator presented the court with expert reports, social science data, and statistics to demonstrate that the program passed muster under strict scrutiny, and the circuit court agreed that it did.

But the court of appeals reversed. It broadly announced determinations based on race-based classifications in the law are always unconstitutional, not just subject to strict scrutiny, and that the evidence failed to support the statute's constitutionality in all applications. In so doing, the court overread the U.S. Supreme Court's precedents, misunderstood the evidence presented to the circuit court, and lost sight of its task in a facial challenge.

No such departures were needed or justified. Wisconsin Stat. § 39.44 is constitutional. Unnecessarily discarding it

Case 2022AP002026 Petition for Review Filed 03-26-2025 Page 9 of 35

would work a profound harm for grant recipients and the colleges they attend.

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. The U.S. Supreme Court has held that programs using racial classifications are constitutional if they have a measurable compelling interest, narrow tailoring designed to address that interest, a lack of substantial harm to other groups, and a way to measure an appropriate end.

Wisconsin Stat. § 39.44, currently funded at less than one percent of state aid, addresses disproportionate attrition rates among students in specific racial groups by awarding grants, beginning sophomore year, through the private colleges and Wisconsin technical colleges the students attend. The grants help those schools retain the classes they matriculated and promote equal opportunity for all students. They dramatically reduce attrition for grant recipients, far more than race neutral financial aid. Annual reports keep public officials apprised of the program's performance, and the Legislature chooses how to fund the program biennially.

Did the respondents show that the statute is unconstitutional in all applications?

The circuit court said no.

The court of appeals said yes.

2. For a plaintiff to have standing, this Court's precedent requires the plaintiff to have suffered a real and immediate injury and to have a legally protectable interest. In turn, to establish taxpayer standing, a plaintiff must suffer a personal, pecuniary injury. Mere disagreement with a law is insufficient to afford taxpayer standing.

Here, Respondents are not students seeking financial assistance. Instead, as taxpayers, they challenged some of the

criteria governing the Retention Grant but did not seek to have fewer taxpayer dollars spent.

Did Respondents satisfy the requirements for taxpayer standing by demonstrating a personal pecuniary loss?

The circuit court said yes.

The court of appeals said yes.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is a facial challenge to a financial-aid grant 39.44, called the Wis. Stat. § minority program, undergraduate retention grant (Retention Grant). It addresses a retention problem among certain groups in higher education: on average, Black American, Native American, Hispanic, and certain Southeast Asian students¹ drop out of school or fail to graduate at substantially higher rates than their peers. Petitioner Wisconsin Higher Educational Aids Board oversees the statute's administration.

- I. Students in groups targeted by the statute face disproportionately low retention, a problem not fixed by race-neutral financial aid.
 - A. The statute addresses severe retention problems for the targeted populations, problems race-neutral aid does not solve.

In May 1983, the Superintendent of Public Instruction and University of Wisconsin System President established a joint committee "to study cooperative ways of eliminating or reducing causes leading to under-enrollment of minority students and to study factors affecting retention in post-secondary education." (R. 55:3.) The joint committee held

¹ The statute defines this group as a former citizen or descendent of a citizen of Laos, Vietnam, or Cambodia. Wis. Stat. § 39.44.

Case 2022AP002026 Petition for Review Filed 03-26-2025 Page 11 of 35

meetings across the state, heard testimony, received comments from many stakeholders, and reviewed projects and studied papers relevant to their mission. (R. 55:3.) They compiled their findings and recommendations into a report issued in May 1984. (R. 55:3.)

The May 1984 report found that Black, Hispanic, and Native American students were not only greatly underrepresented on Wisconsin's campuses but also "perhaps more significantly, retention rates for [these groups of] minority students were below those of White students." (R. 55:13.) Similarly, "[g]raduation was also less likely for minority students than for non-minority students." (R. 55:13.) Thus, "[t]he result is a dwindling pool of talented and educated minority people moving up the educational ladder and preparing for the world of work." (R. 55:13.)

To address this problem, the committee recommended a statutory retention grant. (R. 55:17.) "The program would be designed to help improve the retention and graduation rates of minority students." (R. 55:17.) The committee modeled the program after a similar aid program for graduate students called the Advanced Opportunity Program, (R. 55:17), a program that had improved minority retention and graduation rates of "approximately 80%." The report concluded that it "demonstrate[d] that retention and graduation can be significantly improved through specially designed financial aid programs." (R. 55:17.)

Following that recommendation, the Governor asked the Legislature to create such a grant in his 1985–87 biennial budget proposal. (R. 49:4.) The Legislature independently studied Wisconsin enrollment data for minority groups showing that Hispanic, Black, and Native American students had greater problems staying in school and graduating than white and Asian student populations. Black student enrollment had more recently decreased further. (R. 49:6.)

Case 2022AP002026 Petition for Review Filed 03-26-2025 Page 12 of 35

The Legislature noted that race-neutral state and federal programs aimed at improving minority retention and graduation had proved ineffective. (R. 49:7, 10–11, 13.) In fact, "minority degrees as a percentage of all degrees granted declined from 2.8% to 2.4%" from 1976 to 1983. (R. 49:13.)

Wisconsin Stat. § 39.44 was enacted in 1985 Wis. Act 29. The Legislative Fiscal Bureau described the goal as "encourag[ing] minority undergraduate students to remain in the University by providing financial support." (R. 49:4.) Act 29 created two grant programs: the Retention Grant for private, nonprofit schools and technical colleges, to be administered by the Board; and a sister program for the University of Wisconsin System, codified at Wis. Stat. § 35.25(17), to be administered by the Board of Regents. Consistent with the empirical data, the law made the grant available to "Black, Hispanic[,] and American Indian undergraduates." 1985 Wisconsin Act 29. It considered including Asian students, but the data showed that they "generally have a higher retention and degree completion rate than nonminorities." (R. 49:7.)

In 1987, the Legislature amended Wis. Stat. § 39.44 to expand eligibility to Southeast Asian students from Laos, Vietnam, and Cambodia, whose families had immigrated as Vietnam-War refugees. 1987 Wisconsin Act 27 § 683s; (R. 49:17.)

B. Retention differences persist today.

The retention differences between the four groups and overall student population persist today. At two-year institutions, about half of all Asian and white students have completed a degree within six years, compared to only about one-third of Hispanic students and only one-quarter of Black students. (R. 49:67–68.) For four-year institutions, on average, Asian and white students complete their degrees at

Case 2022AP002026 Petition for Review Filed 03-26-2025 Page 13 of 35

a significantly higher rate than Black, Hispanic, or Native American students. (R. 49:70; 50:10.) "Compared with White students, Black students had 43 percent lower odds and Hispanic students had 25 percent lower odds of attaining an associate's or bachelor's degree, after accounting for other factors." (R. 50:6.)

The same holds true for Southeast Asian students, who have "glaringly lower rates of educational attainment compared to Whites and Asian Americans as a whole." (R. 49:75.) Compared to other Asian Americans, Southeast Asian students are "twice as likely" to transfer out of their institution for non-academic reasons and often do so because they "exhaust financial resources." (R. 49:88.)

II. The Retention Grant achieves measurable, improved retention and does not reduce the aid otherwise available to all students.

A. Retention Grants are awarded by colleges.

Retention Grants are awarded by participating private colleges, tribal colleges, and Wisconsin technical colleges. Wis. Stat. § 39.44(3); (R. 46:2–3). Each school's financial aid office determines eligibility based on the applicant's overall need picture and nominates eligible sophomores, juniors, or seniors. (R. 46:2–3.) Individual awards vary based upon financial need, with a minimum grant of \$250 and a maximum grant of \$2,500. (R. 46:3.)

B. The Retention Grant achieves measurable, improved retention for recipients.

The Retention Grant is highly effective at improving retention among recipients. In 2015–16, 80% of Retention Grant recipients either completed their degree or certificate or were continuing toward degree or certificate completion. (R. 47:5.) Similarly, student graduation or retention rates

Case 2022AP002026 Petition for Review Filed 03-26-2025 Page 14 of 35

were 85% in 2016–17, 77% in 2017–18, and 80% in 2018–19. (R. 47:13, 21, 29.)

Recipients explained the importance of the Retention Grant to their remaining in school. The Board's 2019–20 annual report stated that 85% of grant recipients reported that, without it, they either would not have been able to attend school, or it would have been difficult to attend school. (R. 47:42.) Survey results from prior years yielded similar results. (R. 47:10; 18; 26; 34.)

Enrollment and graduation data at Wisconsin technical colleges demonstrate that receipt of a Retention Grant at least doubles graduation rates. From 2011–21, receipt of an award tripled the graduation rates for Black students who received an award—from 21.4% to 64.4%. (R. 41:1–2.)

C. The Retention Grant supplements existing aid and is a miniscule addition to the overall aid picture.

Wisconsin Stat. § 39.44 is a tiny piece of the overall financial aid picture. By law, Retention Grants may not replace institutional aid available to students. Wis. Stat. § 39.44(3)(b).

The Board oversees multiple financial aid programs for students enrolled at higher educational institutions in Wisconsin other than the University of Wisconsin system, including technical colleges, independent colleges, and tribal colleges. Wis. Stat. § 39.28(1); (R. 46:2). The largest among them, the Wisconsin Grant, Wis. Stat. § 39.30, accounts for nearly 94% of all aid dollars administered by the Board, and it is available to all students regardless of race, ethnicity, or national origin. (R. 54:8.) Wisconsin Stat. § 39.44, in contrast, represents less than one-half of one percent of total aid dollars administered by the Board.

Case 2022AP002026 Petition for Review Filed 03-26-2025 Page 15 of 35

Specifically, for 2023 and 2024, the Legislature set aside \$819,000 for Retention Grants for each fiscal year. 2023 Act 19; Wis. Stat. § 20.005 (money set aside for § 20.235(1)(fg)). For those same years, the budget bill set aside \$141 million for all financial aid programs administered by the Board. See Wis. Stat. § 20.005 (amounts set aside for 20.235, GPR program totals for HEAB student support).

That Board-administered aid does not include financial aid available through the federal government and at each institution. It does not include aid administered by the Universities of Wisconsin, including statutory programs that institution administers. State aid is only about 9% of total aid available to students, and the Retention Grant is about one-half of 1% of that. (R. 54:7–8.)

D. The Retention Grant is annually reviewed and funded biennially.

In 2001, the Legislature added a requirement that the Board "report... on the effectiveness of the [Grant] program" annually. 2001 Wis. Act 16 § 1383. Since then, the Board annually submits a detailed, data-driven report to the Legislature on the effectiveness of the Retention Grant and its continued necessity. (R. 46:3–4.)

The Board's appropriation for Wis. Stat. § 39.44 appears in Wis. Stat. § 20.235(1)(fg), which authorizes the Board to spend funds on the Retention Grant. *See also* Wis. Stat. § 39.44(2). The amount of funds set aside in that appropriation appear in the schedule in Wis. Stat. § 20.005, which sets aside GPR funds on a year-by-year basis.

Case 2022AP002026 Petition for Review Filed 03-26-2025 Page 16 of 35

III. Procedural history.

A. Respondents brought a facial challenge to Wis. Stat. § 39.44.

Respondents brought suit in the Jefferson County Circuit Court to challenge the constitutionality of Wis. Stat. § 39.44, claiming it unlawfully discriminates in violation of state and federal equal protection principles. (R. 21:1–2.) They conceded that they would lack standing under Article III to bring suit in federal court. (R. 21:3.) The Complaint asked to amend the law so that it was available to all students. (R. 21:12.)

The Board supported its motion with the opinions of two expert witnesses, explaining why the Retention Grant is necessary, effective, and narrowly tailored. (R. 39; 55.) Respondents did not retain experts, depose the Board's experts, or otherwise attempt to rebut their reports. The Board also supported its motion with hundreds of pages of supporting documents, including historical studies and reports, social science studies, and data. (R. 41; 47; 49–50; 55.) Respondents submitted no evidence to challenge the Board's evidence.

The circuit court (Hue, J.) granted summary judgment in the Board's favor. (R. 61, PFR App. 1–50.) After "reluctantly" concluding that Respondents had standing, it held that the Retention Grant was lawful because the Board's unrefuted evidence showed that the program furthered a compelling interest and was narrowly tailored to that end. (R. 61:25–46, PFR App. 28–49.)

The court first concluded that, under the undisputed evidence, Wis. Stat. § 39.44 furthers the compelling interest of "helping minority students with financial need remain enrolled in school and graduate." (R. 61:25–30, PFR App.

Case 2022AP002026 Petition for Review Filed 03-26-2025 Page 17 of 35

28–33.) The court next evaluated whether the law is narrowly tailored to further its compelling interest. (R. 61:30–46, PFR App. 33–49.) The court observed that there was no precedent applying narrow tailoring to financial aid. But, recognizing that context matters in this arena, the court applied the factors to the undisputed facts. (R. 61:36–38, PFR App. 39–41.)

The court concluded that the unrefuted evidence showed that there were no race-neutral alternatives to the program because race-neutral alternatives did not work nearly as well. (R. 61:38–39, PFR App. 41–42.) The court also noted that the Retention Grant is limited, representing less than 1% of total aid available to needy students. (R. 61:42, PFR App. 45.) The court concluded the evidence showed that the program does not burden non-minority students because it does not take aid dollars away from them. (R. 61:44–45, PFR App. 47–48.) The court also held that the program is subject to multiple levels of review, annually through the Board's statutory reporting and biennially through the budget process. (R. 61:43–44, PFR App. 46–47.)

Respondents appealed. (R. 62.)

B. The court of appeals reversed the circuit court.

On February 26, 2025, in a decision recommended for publication, the court of appeals reversed the circuit court. (PFR App. 51–102 (*Rabiebna v. HEAB*, No. 2022AP2026, 2025 WL 657120 (Wis. Ct. App. Feb. 26, 2025) (publication recommended)).)

Regarding standing, the court held that Fabick v. Evers, 2021 WI 28, 396 Wis. 2d 231, 956 N.W.2d 856, controlled and conferred taxpayer standing on plaintiffs. (PFR App. 57.) In ruling there was a qualifying "expenditure" under Fabick, the court brushed aside the fact that the plaintiffs did not seek to void the Retention Grant altogether but rather only sought to

Case 2022AP002026 Petition for Review Filed 03-26-2025 Page 18 of 35

change the law so the money was spent differently. (R. 21:12 (amended complaint); PFR App. 60.)

On equal protection, the court relied on the U.S. Supreme Court's *Students for Fair Admissions, Inc. v. President & Fellows of Harvard College*, 600 U.S. 181 (2023) ("*SFFA*"). (PFR App. 52–53.) Although *SFFA* involved college admissions, not financial aid, the court concluded it was "easily applicable to the financial aid context." (PFR App. 62.)

The court held that retention was not a sufficiently "extraordinary" interest to constitute a compelling governmental interest under strict scrutiny. (PFR App. 76.) Regarding narrow tailoring, the court broadly stated that "[r]ace as a determinative criterion is flatly impermissible under the Equal Protection Clause." (PFR App. 85.)

As to whether the law treats race as a negative, the court held that, despite the undisputed expert testimony, the Retention Grant burdened other students. And the court criticized the statute as having no specific "end point," (PFR App. 97), dismissing the annual reporting and the Legislature's biennial decision about how to set aside funds. (PFR App. 98.)

The court "reverse[ed] the order of the circuit court and remand[ed] for the court to enter an order enjoining HEAB and Hutchinson from further administering the grant program or distributing funds thereunder." (PFR App. 101–02.)

The Board now petitions for review.

Case 2022AP002026 Petition for Review Filed 03-26-2025 Page 19 of 35

REASONS WHY THIS CASE MEETS THE CRITERIA FOR REVIEW

The decision below merits this Court's review because it presents real and significant questions of state and constitutional law, and review will help develop the law and presents novel questions, the resolution of which will have statewide impact. Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(a), (c)1.–3.

ARGUMENT

- I. Review of the equal protection issue presents a real and significant issue of federal and state constitutional law; review will develop the law and is an issue critical to the people of Wisconsin.
 - A. The constitutionality of Wis. Stat. § 39.44 presents a real and significant question of federal and state constitutional law.

This case presents a real and significant question of constitutional law. Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(a). In reversing the circuit court, the court of appeals relied on a U.S. Supreme Court case about college admissions policies to reject any law providing race-conscious financial aid. The financial aid context has not been addressed by this Court or the U.S. Supreme Court.

This case involves a facial challenge to the validity of Wis. Stat. § 39.44. To succeed in a facial challenge, the challenging party "must show that the statute cannot be enforced under any circumstances." *Serv. Emps. Int'l Union, Local 1 v. Vos*, 2020 WI 67, ¶ 38, 393 Wis. 2d 38, 946 N.W.2d 35 (citation omitted). This Court has emphasized that such a task is "no small wall to scale," *id.* ¶ 39, and it has explained that the U.S. Supreme Court has described facial challenges as "disfavored" because of the danger of judicial overreach, *id.* ¶¶ 40–41.

Case 2022AP002026 Petition for Review Filed 03-26-2025 Page 20 of 35

1. Laws like Wis. Stat. § 39.44 must meet strict scrutiny, but that standard considers context and is not fatal in fact.

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