No. 2022AP2026

FILED

04-30-2025

CLERK OF WISCONSIN

SUPREME COURT

In the Supreme Court of Wisconsin

KONKANOK RABIEBNA, RICHARD A. FREIHOEFER, DOROTHY M.
BORCHARDT, RICHARD HEIDEL and NORMAN C. SANNES,
PLAINTIFFS-APPELLANTS,

V.

HIGHER EDUCATIONAL AIDS BOARD and TAMMIE DEVOOGHT-BLANEY,
DEFENDANTS-RESPONDENTS-PETITIONERS.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

WISCONSIN INSTITUTE FOR
LAW & LIBERTY, INC.

RICHARD M. ESENBERG
DANIEL P. LENNINGTON
SKYLAR CROY
330 E. Kilbourn Ave., Ste. 725
Milwaukee, WI 53202
Phone: (414) 727-9455
Facsimile: (414) 727-6385

*Attorneys for Plaintiffs-Appellants
Konkanok Rabiebna, Richard A.
Freihoefer, Dorothy M. Borchardt,
Richard Heidel, and Norman C.

INTRODUCTION

Konkanok Rabiebna, a Thai American, and other taxpayers sued to stop Wisconsin from doling out educational benefits based on race.¹ Specifically, they challenged the “Minority Undergraduate Retention Grant Program,” codified at Wis. Stat. § 39.44. Wisconsin gives taxpayer-funded grants to financially needy undergraduate students—but not all students get a shot. A student must be Black American, American Indian, Hispanic, or trace his or her ancestry to Cambodia, Laos, or Vietnam. § 39.44(1)(a). In a deposition, a Program adviser admitted that other races, including Thai, are ineligible. R. 30:3, 8.

The Taxpayers won at the Court of Appeals, which correctly concluded that these expenditures are illegal because they violate the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. *Rabiebna v. HEAB*, 2025 WL 657120, ¶2 (Wis. Ct. App. Feb. 26, 2025). As the United States Supreme Court has instructed, “no State has any authority under ... [that] clause to use race as a factor in affording educational opportunities among its citizens.” *Students for Fair Admissions, Inc. v. President & Fellows of Harvard Coll. (SFFA)*, 600 U.S. 181, 204 (2023) (quoted source omitted).

¹ The Taxpayers use “race” as a catch-all for race, alienage, ancestry, ethnicity, and national origin. Each is treated the same as a matter of constitutional law. *E.g.*, *A.M.B. v. Cir. Ct. for Ashland Cnty.*, 2024 WI 18, ¶19, 411 Wis. 2d 389, 5 N.W.3d 238, *cert denied*, 145 S. Ct. 1051 (2025).

The Higher Educational Aids Board, which oversees the Program, filed a Petition for Review.² It presents two questions: (1) Whether the Program’s racial eligibility criteria violate the Fourteenth Amendment; and (2) Whether the Taxpayers have standing. The Board presents the questions in this order even though standing is a “threshold” issue. *Brown Cnty. v. DHSS*, 103 Wis. 2d 37, 42, 307 N.W.2d 247 (1981).

This Court should deny the Petition. On the merits, the Board cannot distinguish precedents from the United States Supreme Court, and this Court has no authority to overrule or modify these precedents. *Verhelst Const. Co. v. Galles*, 204 Wis. 96, 235 N.W. 556 (1931). On standing, this Court has repeatedly held that taxpayers are entitled to sue over “any illegal expenditure” because such an expenditure either increases taxes or “results ... in the governmental unit’s having less money to spend for legitimate governmental objectives ...” *E.g.*, *Tooley v. O’Connell*, 77 Wis. 2d 422, 438, 253 N.W.2d 335 (1977) (quoting *S. D. Reality Co. v. Sewerage Comm’n of the City of Milwaukee*, 15 Wis. 2d 15, 22, 112 N.W.2d 177 (1961)). The Board does not ask this Court to revisit these precedents, nor should it. Accordingly, neither question has law-developing potential. Additionally, this action is a bad vehicle to address these questions. Among other problems, the Board has advanced arguments in its Petition that it did not present to the Court of Appeals. The Board forfeited these arguments. *E.g.*, *A.O. Smith Corp. v. Allstate Ins.*, 222 Wis. 2d 475, 491, 588 N.W.2d 285 (Ct. App. 1998).

² The Taxpayers use “the Board” as shorthand for the Board and its Executive Secretary, who is also a party.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Board omitted key background information in its Petition, so the Taxpayers begin by explaining the Program and its history. They then discuss the record evidence the Board has relied on. Lastly, they summarize this action's procedural history.

I. For about four decades, Wisconsin has given small taxpayer-funded grants to some financially needy minorities at private and technical colleges through the Program.

Under Wis. Stat. § 39.44, some financially needy minorities who attend private and technical colleges can get a taxpayer-funded grant. Students at public, four-year universities are ineligible. *See* § 39.44(1)(b). These grants range from \$250 to \$2,500. R. 46:3; *see also* Wis. Admin. Code § HEA 12.03(1).

For context, the Legislature enacted Wis. Stat. § 39.44 in 1985 and amended the Program's racial eligibility criteria once in 1987. The Program was initially open only to students who were Black American, American Indian, or Hispanic. 1985 Wis. Act 29. Two years later, the Legislature expanded eligibility to some students whose families are from Cambodia, Laos, or Vietnam. 1987 Wis. Act 27. The criteria have not changed since.

II. The Board claims that the Program was created to remedy a graduation and retention “crisis” among eligible minorities and that its racial eligibility criteria are currently justified by disparities.

The Board’s position on why the Legislature created the Program has changed. Before the Circuit Court, the Board argued that the Program’s purpose was to increase student body diversity. *Rabiebna*, 2025 WL 657120, ¶40. While this action was on appeal, the United States Supreme Court decided *Students for Fair Admissions, Inc. v. President & Fellows of Harvard College*, holding that diversity is “not a sufficiently coherent” concept to constitute a compelling interest and declaring race-based admissions programs premised on diversity unconstitutional. 600 U.S. at 214. Since then, the Board has said that the Legislature adopted the Program not to foster diversity but to remedy a “crisis” in retention and graduation rates among eligible minorities. *Rabiebna*, 2025 WL 657120, ¶41.

The Board relies on record evidence about the University of Wisconsin System—public, four-year universities—in attempting to show why Wis. Stat. § 39.44 was enacted, although whether the Legislature considered much of this evidence is unknown. *Id.*, ¶¶47, 49. The Board admitted before the Court of Appeals that it was “rel[ying] primarily on UW System statistics.” Board’s Ct. App. Supp. Br., at 7. It has cited little evidence about private and technical colleges. *Rabiebna*, 2025 WL 657120, ¶51. Technical colleges are often less expensive two-year degree-granting institutions. *Id.* The Board acknowledged below that technical colleges are a “different animal.” *Id.*

The Board first relies on a 1984 report from the Joint UW System / Department of Public Instruction Committee on Minority Student Affairs. R. 55. The committee did not discuss private or technical colleges, ultimately recommending a grant program be created for “junior and senior year minority students enrolled at [UW] System institutions.” R. 55:4.

The Board next relies on a 1985 memorandum from the Director of the Legislative Fiscal Bureau about two grant programs for UW System universities. R. 49:4. The Director said, “[s]ome have argued that the grants could be used for minority students in private schools.... It should be noted, however, that there is no formal proposal from independent institutions or [the Board,] and no evaluation of need has been made.” R. 49:8. He also noted that the memorandum was prepared specifically in response to a request about UW. R. 49:8.

Third, the Board relies on a 1987 memorandum from the same LFB Director. R. 49:16. The Director referred to a “UW System” audit of minority enrollment data. R. 49:20. This data shows that from 1980 to 1985, enrollment for American Indians increased by more than 13 percent and that enrollment for Hispanics similarly increased by over 20 percent. R. 49:20. While black enrollment was down for the UW System as a whole, it was up at UW-La Crosse, Stevens Point, Stout, and Whitewater. R. 49:20. Two-year public junior colleges (called “Centers” at that time) also experienced an increase in black enrollment. R. 49:20; see LFB, *University of Wisconsin System Overview* 1 (2003).³

³ <https://tinyurl.com/3vjm4asm>.

In the 1987 memorandum, the Director noted that he was not opining on the cause of any increase or decrease: “Given the complex set of factors determining recruitment and retention efforts, it is difficult to assign specific weights to such factors as societal determinants, financial barriers, minority faculty, institutional efforts[,] or others.” R. 49:21

Lastly, the Board relies on a 1991 report from the Wisconsin Policy Research Institute (a think tank) that discusses Wisconsin’s Hmong community. R. 49:27, 65. This report indicated that Wisconsin experienced an influx of Hmong immigrants from Southeast Asia, including from Thailand, in the years following the Vietnam War. R. 49:44. Additionally, the report explains that while the Hmong were struggling in some regards, education was going well for them: “Hmong children are doing extraordinarily well in school [T]he high school dropout rate is negligible, and the graduation rate is close to 100%, and the share of graduates going on to technical schools and college is also very high.” R. 49:31. The report even indicated concern that “there will not be enough jobs available in the smaller towns for Hmong college graduates.” R. 49:55.

Turning to record evidence of current purported need, much of it is not Wisconsin specific or not about private or technical colleges. For example, the Board relies on an expert report that largely discusses national racial disparities. R. 26:3. The report also contains this chart:

Table 4 – Default Rates by Ethnicity based on Dropouts

Default rates within 12 years of entry of undergraduate borrowers who dropped out
Students who entered college in 2003-04, by race and ethnicity

	Public four-year institution	Private nonprofit four-year institution	Public two-year institution	Private for-profit institution
White	39	33	32	50
Black or African American	64	65	54	75
Hispanic or Latino	50	*	29	63
Overall	44	40	36	62

* Standard error is too high to report an estimate.
Source: Author's analysis of data from National Center for Education Statistics, "2003-04 Beginning Postsecondary Students Longitudinal Study, Second Follow-up (BPS:04/09)," Tables gmbhmkn38, gmbhmpe2, gmbhm4d, and gmbha47, available at <https://nces.ed.gov/datalab/powerstats/default.aspx> (last accessed October 2017).

CAP

R. 26:15. This chart indicates that default rates differ between various institutions and that “public two-year institutions” had the lowest overall default rate. Hispanics at “public two-year institutions” also had a three percent lower default rate than whites. *See also* R. 50 (relying on nationwide data).

III. The Taxpayers sued to (in the Board’s words) “effectively end the Program.”

The Taxpayers sued, claiming the Program illegally doled out educational benefits based on race. The Taxpayers alleged multiple counts, including Violation of the United States Constitution. R. 21:9. The Board, before the Court of Appeals, described the action as follows in one header: “**Appellants sue to effectively eliminate the Grant Program.**” Board’s Ct. App. Resp. Br., at 20.

The Taxpayers claimed standing because they argued that the expenditures were illegal. R. 21:9. In the 2021–22 academic year alone, the Program cost taxpayers \$819,000. R. 49:1. Since its inception in 1985, it has cost millions. *Rabiebna*, 2025 WL 657120, ¶14.

A. The Circuit Court concluded that the Taxpayers had standing but sided with the Board on the merits, relying on “diversity” as a purported compelling interest.

On cross-motions for summary judgment, the Circuit Court concluded that the Taxpayers had standing but ruled for the Board on the merits. R. 61:23. Notably, the Court issued its decision in mid-2022, before the United States Supreme Court decided *SFFA*. The Circuit Court relied on “diversity,” using the word 43 times in its decision. R. 61. As it noted, “[t]here is no evidence that the ... Program was proposed, adopted[,] or enacted to remedy past discrimination,” but “[d]iversity in higher education has also been determined to be a compelling interest” R. 61:25–26.

B. The Court of Appeals reversed after holding oral argument and receiving supplemental briefing.

The Taxpayers appealed. In addition to ordinary briefing, the Court of Appeals received letter briefs after the United States Supreme Court decided *SFFA*. *Rabiebna*, 2025 WL 657120, ¶7. It then held oral argument and, at the Board’s urging, allowed for “post-argument briefing,” even though such briefing is “unusual.” *Id.*

The Court of Appeals reversed. *Id.*, ¶87. It first agreed with the Circuit Court that the Taxpayers had standing. *Id.*, ¶¶10–17. On the merits, it walked through each requirement an affirmative action program must satisfy to meet the high bar outlined in *SFFA*. *Id.*, ¶¶20–81. It first held that “*SFFA* completely cuts the legs out of from under [the Board’s] originally asserted government interest of student body diversity.” *Id.*, ¶42. It was skeptical that the Board could offer a new compelling interest on appeal; however, it ultimately held that

addressing purported racial disparities in graduation and retention rates is not a compelling interest. *Id.*, ¶¶41, 43. The Court noted the Board had admitted at oral argument that it was unaware of any decisional authorities supporting this argument and was “hoping ... this [C]ourt issues the first [such] opinion.” *Id.*, ¶43. Next, the Court concluded that even if this interest could be compelling, the record evidence was insufficient in this action. *Id.*, ¶¶45–52. Among other problems, the evidence is mainly about public four-year universities, which are different from private and technical colleges. *Id.* Additionally, the evidence does not show relevant racial disparities. *Id.* The Court also concluded that the Program’s racial eligibility criteria were not narrowly tailored, had been illegally employed as a negative, and lacked a logical endpoint. *Id.*, ¶¶57–81.

The Board filed the Petition.

REASONS TO DENY THE PETITION FOR REVIEW

The Court should deny the Petition. Neither question presented has law-developing potential. The Board cannot distinguish *SFFA* and similar precedents from the United States Supreme Court, and this Court has no authority to disregard these precedents. Similarly, this Court’s taxpayer standing precedents are already clear: under them, the Taxpayers have standing. No one has asked this Court to revisit these precedents, nor should it. Moreover, this action is also a lousy vehicle to address these questions. Among other problems, the Board is advancing arguments it did not make before the Court of Appeals.

I. On the merits, this Court must follow precedents from the United States Supreme Court, and these precedents are clear—educational benefits cannot be doled out based on race; accordingly, the merits question lacks law-developing potential.

On the merits, this action is indistinguishable from *SFFA* and related precedents from the United States Supreme Court, and this Court is not at liberty to overrule or modify these precedents. *See State v. Metcotel*, 176 Wis. 2d 87, 94–95, 499 N.W.2d 662 (1993). Seemingly, even the Board would agree that, under *SFFA*, Wisconsin could not use race as a factor in deciding who can attend college. *E.g.*, Pet. Rev., at 19. A logical corollary is that Wisconsin cannot use race as part of a grant program to retain students. The Board has been unable to cite a single decisional authority that construes *SFFA* as irrelevant to financial aid, and before *SFFA* came out, the Board relied almost exclusively on precedents about college admissions. *Rabiebna*, 2025 WL 657120, ¶¶20 n.11, 40. Even pre-*SFFA*, race could not be used in a dispositive fashion, as it has been for the Program. *Id.*, ¶44 n.13. The Court of Appeals painstakingly followed *SFFA* and related precedents, which lead to only one reasonable conclusion: The Program is illegal. This Court should not rehash the good work of the Court of Appeals.

A. The Program’s racial eligibility criteria fail every test articulated by the United States Supreme Court in *SFFA*.

In *SFFA*, the United States Supreme Court set forth three independent tests that an affirmative action program must satisfy: “[1] [it] must comply with strict scrutiny, [2] [it] may never use race as a stereotype or negative, and [3] at some point—[it] must end.” 600 U.S. at 213. The Court said that the admissions programs at issue

were invalid under “each” of these tests. *Id.* It then applied each test in its own section of the opinion, just like the Court of Appeals did in this action. *Id.* at 214–21.

1. The Program’s racial eligibility criteria are unconstitutional because they fail strict scrutiny.

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